In The Iowa Supreme Court  
Supreme Court No. 17-1149

---

AMES 2304, LLC,

Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF AMES, ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,

Respondent-Appellee.

---

Appeal from the District Court for Story County

The Honorable Michael J. Moon

---

Appellant's Final Brief

(Oral Argument Requested)

---

Debra Hulett, AT0003665  
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.  
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600  
Des Moines, IA 50309  
Telephone: 515-283-3100  
Facsimile: 515-283-8045  
Email: dlhulett@nyemaster.com

Attorneys for Petitioner-  
Appellant AMES 2304, LLC

##

## Statement of issues presented for review

### Division I

Did the Ames Zoning Board of Adjustment act illegally in denying Applicant's interior remodeling building permit request?

*Baker v. Bd. of Adjustment*, 671 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 2003)

*Bontrager Auto Serv., Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483 (Iowa 2008)

*Bowman v. City of Des Moines Mun. Hous. Agency*, 805 N.W.2d 790 (Iowa 2011)

*City of Jewell Junction v. Cunningham*, 439 N.W.2d 183 (Iowa 1989)

*City of Okoboji v. Okoboji Barz, Inc.*, 746 N.W.2d 56 (Iowa 2008)

*Deardorf v. Bd. of Adjustment*, 118 N.W.2d 78 (Iowa 1962)

*Ernst v. Johnson County*, 522 N.W.2d 599 (Iowa 1994)

*Greenawalt v. Zoning Bd. of Adjustment*, 345 N.W.2d 537 (Iowa 1984)

*Henrich v. Lorenz*, 448 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 1989)

*Holland v. State*, 115 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 1962)

*In re A.M.*, 856 N.W.2d 365 (Iowa 2014)

*Irving v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 883 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 2016)

*Jersild v. Sarcone*, 149 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 1967)

*Johnson v. Bd. of Adjustment*, 239 N.W.2d 873 (Iowa 1976)

*Kucera v. Baldazo*, 745 N.W.2d 481 (Iowa 2008)

*Lauridsen v. City of Okoboji Bd. of Adjustment*, 554 N.W.2d 541 (Iowa 1996)

*Matter of Estate of Gantner*, 893 N.W.2d 896 (Iowa 2017)

*Meinders v. Dunkerton Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 645 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2002)

*Myria Holdings Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 892 N.W.2d 343 (Iowa 2017)

*Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, L.L.C.*, 878 N.W.2d 759 (Iowa 2016)

*U.S. Cellular Corp. v. Bd. of Adjustment of City of Des Moines*, 589 N.W.2d 712 (Iowa 1999)

*State v. Nall*, 894 N.W.2d 514 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Pettijohn*, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Romer*, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)

Ames Mun. Code § 29.1201

Ames Mun. Code § 29.200

Ames Mun. Code § 29.201

Ames Mun. Code § 29.307

Ames Mun. Code § 29.401

Ames Mun. Code § 29.501

Ames Mun. Code § 29.702

Ames Mun. Code § 29.800

Ames Mun. Code § 29.900

Ames Mun. Code § 29.1403(7)(a)

Iowa Code § 4.1(30)(a)

Iowa Code § 414.12

Black's Law Dictionary 1913 (10th ed. 2014)

## **Division II**

Was the Ames Zoning Board of Adjustment's decision that the proposed remodeling plan would result in an increase in intensity supported by substantial evidence?

*Bontrager Auto Serv., Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483 (Iowa 2008)

*Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. v. Dallas County*, 675 N.W.2d 544 (Iowa 2004)

Ames Mun. Code § 29.501

## **Routing statement**

The issues raised in this appeal involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

## Statement of the case

This appeal stems from a certiorari proceeding over the City of Ames Zoning Board of Adjustment's ("Ames ZBA") refusal to issue an interior-remodeling building permit to Applicant Ames 2304, LLC ("Applicant"). The Ames Municipal Code's ("Code") unambiguous statutory text establishes Applicant's interior-remodeling plan "shall be permitted." Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2)(a)(ii) (JA 248).<sup>1</sup> Ames ZBA acted illegally because its decision violated the plain text of the Code. Additionally, Ames ZBA's decision was not supported by substantial evidence. The district court should not have annulled the writ.

This appeal confronts Ames ZBA's refusal to issue an interior-remodeling building permit and its simultaneous failure to apply the plain and unambiguous Code. When a zoning ordinance clearly

---

<sup>1</sup> The appellate court applies the municipal code in place at the time of appellate court's decision, unless the board did not act in good faith. *U.S. Cellular Corp. v. Bd. of Adjustment of City of Des Moines*, 589 N.W.2d 712, 718 (Iowa 1999). Applicant cites the current Code, without waiving the position that Ames ZBA acted in bad faith.

means one thing, we should be able to rely on it. The straightforward statutory text establishes basic rules by which we set expectations and make decisions. That includes decisions to invest and purchase property. Property owners must know what to expect.

Applicant owns property located at 2304 Knapp Street, Story County, Ames, Iowa (“2304 Knapp”). (JA 115, 178). In 1928, a single-family house on the property was converted to a four-unit apartment building. (JA 115). The apartment building continues to have four apartment units today. (JA 148).

In April 2016, Applicant sought a building permit for interior remodeling. (JA 115, 178). Applicant’s remodeling plan involves removing and altering several interior walls, without changing the number of dwelling units. (JA 148, 180-183). The apartment building has four dwelling units, and under the remodeling plan, the apartment building would continue to have four dwelling units. *Id.* The remodeling plan would change the structure from four one-

bedroom units to two efficiency units, one two-bedroom unit, and one three-bedroom unit. *Id.*

Although the Ames Municipal Code mandates that “interior remodeling or improvements to a structure . . . shall be permitted,”<sup>2</sup> an Ames Zoning Enforcement Officer denied Applicant’s permit request, relying on a Code provision that states “[a] nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2)(a)(i) (JA 248). The Ames Zoning Enforcement Officer reasoned that the interior remodeling plan would increase the intensity of the nonconforming use. (JA 115-119, 121-123).

Applicant timely appealed to Ames ZBA. (JA 176-183).

On June 22, 2016, Ames ZBA held a hearing. (JA 124-134, 184). Applicant appeared through counsel and presented arguments based on the Code’s statutory language. (JA 176-183). In a 3-1 vote, Ames ZBA approved an order denying permit. (JA 130). Ames ZBA made two conclusions to affirm the Zoning Enforcement Officer’s decision.

---

<sup>2</sup> Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2)(a)(ii) (JA 248).

(JA 130). First, under Ames Municipal Code § 29.307(2), “interior remodel of a nonconforming use cannot be increased in intensity.”

(JA 130). Second, an increase in bedrooms is an increase in intensity of use for a “nonconforming residential apartment unit.” (JA 130).

Ames ZBA memorialized its ruling in a written order and decision.

(JA 133).

Ames ZBA’s rationale is contrary to the Code’s plain text, which expressly defines “intensity” to “mean[] the degree or level of concentration to which land is used for commercial, industrial or any other nonresidential purpose.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(109) (JA 234). Under the Code, a residential use, apartment buildings included, can never increase in “intensity.” By definition, the term “intensity” never applies to residential land use. *Id.* In other words, based on the clear and unambiguous statutory text, Ames ZBA acted illegally in denying the interior-remodeling permit.

Applicant petitioned for a writ of certiorari. (JA 11-13). In a June 16, 2017 order, the district court annulled the writ and upheld

Ames ZBA's decision. (JA 206-218). Relying on Ames ZBA's reasoning, the district court affirmed Ames ZBA's denial of the interior-remodeling permit. (JA 206-218).

The district court's ruling shadowed the reasoning presented in Ames ZBA's Trial Brief. (JA 185-218). The district court reasoned that "[a]n interpretation of the term 'increase in intensity' in the Ames ordinance cannot ignore the practical effect of increasing the number of occupants." (JA 215). The district court concluded that the "Ames ZBA correctly interpreted the requirements of Section 29.307(2)(a) as prohibiting an increase in the intensity of a nonconformity through a remodeling project." (JA 217). The district court also concluded that "Ames ZBA correctly determined that the increase in bedrooms from 4 to 7 constitutes an increase in the intensity of the nonconformance." (JA 217). Finally, the district court concluded that "Ames ZBA correctly interpreted the provisions of the parking space ordinance as evidencing an increase in intensity of the nonconforming use." (JA 217).

## Statement of the facts

This appeal presents statutory interpretation issues relating to the Ames Municipal Code, Chapter 29, the “Zoning Ordinance for the City of Ames, Iowa.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.100 (JA 227). “Chapter 29 of the Ames Municipal Code is a comprehensive and detailed zoning ordinance enacted by the City in April 2000 to regulate the use of real estate within the City’s boundaries.” *Ames Rental Property Ass’n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255, 257 (Iowa 2007). The Ames Municipal Code’s operative language provides relevant background.

### A. 2304 Knapp.

Applicant owns the lot<sup>3</sup> located at 2304 Knapp Street, Ames, Story County, Iowa. (JA 115, 120-123, 177-178). In 1910, a single-family residence was erected on the lot. (JA 115, 131). In 1928, the

---

<sup>3</sup> The Code defines “lot” as “a parcel of land intended for separate ownership, development or other use and that is described or platted in a subdivision recorded pursuant to the Subdivision Regulations or otherwise recorded with the office of the Story County Recorder.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(114) (JA 234-235).

structure<sup>4</sup> was converted to an apartment building,<sup>5</sup> consisting of four one-bedroom apartment units. (JA 115, 121-123, 131). 2304 Knapp is on the south side of Knapp Street. (JA 129, 162, 164).

**B. The Ames Municipal Code's "Use" regulations.**

Under the Code, "[n]o land, building or structure shall be used, . . . and no existing building or structure shall be moved, added to, or altered except in conformity with this Ordinance." Ames Mun. Code § 29.303(1) (JA 246). The Code regulates uses, stating that "[n]o building or land shall be used or occupied and no structure shall be constructed or altered to be used for any purpose other than a Permitted Use." Ames Mun. Code § 29.304(1) (JA 246). "Permissible uses" include "permitted uses," and the Code recognizes that "[u]ses

---

<sup>4</sup> "Structure means anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires, directly or indirectly, a permanent location on the land." Ames Mun. Ordinance § 29.201(223) (JA 241).

<sup>5</sup> See Ames Mun. Code § 29.501(4), Table 29.501(4)-1 (JA 283-285) (describing "Apartment Building" as: "A single structure containing 3 or more Residential Units."). "Residential Unit means that portion of a building providing living space for an individual or a single family." Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(173) (JA 238).

permitted by right shall be allowed if they comply with all applicable regulations.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.304(2)(a) (JA 246). The Code establishes use categories, which “means a class of similar uses grouped together for purposes of delineating the uses permitted in a zone.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(233) (JA 240); *see also* Ames Mun. Code § 29.501(1) (JA 283).

**C. The Ames Municipal Code classifies an apartment building as a “household living” residential use.**

The Code establishes use regulations for all residential use categories. Ames Mun. Code § 29.700 (JA 299). The Code classifies an apartment building as a residential use in the “household living” category. Ames Mun. Code § 29.501(4), Table 29.501(4)-1 (JA 283-285). The household-living residential use category refers to: “Residential occupancy of a dwelling unit by a family, where the average length of stay is 60 days or longer.” *Id.* 2304 Knapp’s residential use subcategory is “Apartment Building.” *Id.*

**D. Ames ZBA recognizes Applicant's apartment building is a legal, nonconforming use.**

The north side of Knapp Street—across the street from 2304 Knapp—is a “Residential High Density” base zone. (JA 91-95). “Residential High Density” is the highest density residential zone recognized in the Code. Ames Mun. Code § 29.700(1) (JA 299). Residential High Density “is intended to accommodate certain high-density residential areas in the City, including areas on or adjacent to the Iowa State University campus and areas adjacent to existing commercial and employment centers.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.704(1) (JA 305). Spruce Point condominiums are located in the Residential High Density base zone that is across the street from 2304 Knapp. (JA 165). One area resident described the Spruce Point condominiums as “undergrad housing.” (JA 165). Several houses on this street are rental houses, including a rental house directly east from 2304 Knapp. (JA 157, 160). There are “some nice, high story apartment buildings” in the neighborhood. (JA 168).

2304 Knapp is located on the south side of Knapp Street. (JA 129, 162, 164-165). In that area, the Code currently designates the south side of Knapp Street a “Residential Low Density” base zone,<sup>6</sup> which “is intended to accommodate primarily single-family dwellings.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.701(1) (JA 299). (JA 115, 131).

Under the Code, apartment buildings with twelve dwelling units or less are classified “Residential Medium Density.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.702(1), Ames Mun. Code Table 29.702(2) (JA 301).

Residential Medium Density “is intended to accommodate medium-density residential development and to serve as a transition from high-density residential areas to low-density residential areas.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.702(1) (JA 301). The Code does not allow an “apartment dwelling” with twelve units or less within a Residential Low Density base zone, unless it is a nonconforming use. Ames Mun.

---

<sup>6</sup> “Base zone means the mapped area to which a uniform set of general regulations apply, typically for agricultural, residential, commercial, or industrial uses.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.200(18) (JA 230).

Code § 29.700(2)-(3) (JA 299); Ames Mun. Code § 29.701(2) (JA 301);  
Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2) (JA 248).

Some members of the public acknowledged that their experience with 2304 Knapp tenants did not reflect the unruly “hubbub” that this Court alluded to in *Ames Rental Property Association*, 736 N.W.2d at 262. (JA 154, 159-160). One resident commented “residents have lived compatibly with the subject property [2304 Knapp] in its current nonconforming rental configuration for many decades.” (JA 159-155). Another resident commented, “I sleep 20 feet from that house [2304 Knapp] . . . we’ve lived there for 16 years and only once have I had any kind of noise problem at all from that.” (JA 159-160).

Ames ZBA admits that Applicant’s apartment building is a legal nonconforming use. (JA 115-116, 118-119, 121-123, 125-127). The Code defines “Nonconforming Lot, Use or Structure,” which

means a lot, use or structure which lawfully existed prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of this Ordinance, but which fails by reason of such adoption, revision or amendment to conform to this Ordinance.

Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(140) (JA 236).

**E. The Ames Municipal Code's regulation on nonconforming uses.**

The Code regulates nonconformities generally, including nonconforming uses. Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2)(a) (JA 248-249).

**(2) Nonconforming Uses.** Any use of any structure or lot that was conforming or validly nonconforming and otherwise lawful at the enactment date of this ordinance and is nonconforming under the provisions of this Ordinance or that shall be made nonconforming by a subsequent amendment, may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the standards and limitations of this Section.

**(a) Movement, Alteration and Enlargement.**

**(i) Enlargement.**

a. A nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity and may not be enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy parts of another structure or portions of a lot that it did not occupy on the effective date of this Ordinance, unless the enlargement, expansion or extension complies with all requirements for the zone, does not create an additional nonconformity, and is approved for a Special Use Permit . . . .

b. Any building or structure containing a nonconforming use may be enlarged up to 125% of the floor area existing on the effective date of this ordinance, provided that the expanded building or

structure complies with all density, coverage and spatial requirements of the zone in which it is located.

c. The enlargement of a nonconforming use that has the effect of making a structure nonconforming, other than as described in subsection b. above, shall not be specially permitted . . . .

(ii) Exterior or Interior Remodeling or Improvements to Structure. Exterior or interior remodeling or improvements to a structure containing a nonconforming use shall be permitted, provided that any proposed enlargement, expansion or extension shall be subject to the provisions set forth in the above paragraph.

(iii) Relocation of Structure. A structure containing a nonconforming use shall not be moved unless the use and structure will comply with all of the regulations that apply in the new location . . . .

Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(2)(a) (JA 248-249).

**F. Applicant’s interior-remodeling permit request.**

In April 2016, Applicant requested a building permit to remodel the apartment building’s interior space, including removal and alteration of several interior walls.<sup>7</sup> (JA 121-123, 178-183).

---

<sup>7</sup> Under the Code, an Ames building official may not issue a building permit “unless and until the Zoning Enforcement Officer certifies that such building structure or use is in conformity with this Ordinance or

Applicant's remodeling plan proposes an investment in the property to upgrade and improve it. (JA 168).

The interior remodeling plan does not propose an enlargement, expansion, or extension of the structure or of the use. (JA 178-183).

The structure would remain exactly the same size. (JA 122). The 2304 Knapp apartment building had four dwelling units before remodeling, and would continue to have four dwelling units after remodeling. (JA 115-116, 118-119, 121-123, 125-127, 130-131, 140-144, 147-149, 178-183).

The configuration of each dwelling unit would change. Currently, 2304 Knapp has four one-bedroom dwelling units. (JA 178-183). Under the proposed interior remodeling plan, 2304 Knapp

---

is a valid nonconforming use." Ames Mun. Code § 29.1501(1)(a) (JA 376).

would have two efficiency dwelling units,<sup>8</sup> and what the Code treats as one three-bedroom and one two-bedroom dwelling units.<sup>9</sup> *Id.*

Before the district court, Ames ZBA asserted in its trial brief that the second floor plan would “split one unit into two units,” resulting in a “newly created Unit 4.” (JA 196-197). The record flatly contradicts that statement. Indeed, the Zoning Enforcement Officer and Ames ZBA reached a contrary conclusion. (JA 115-116, 118, 121-123, 125, 131, 140-141, 147-148, 178-183). Ames ZBA appears to have

---

<sup>8</sup> An efficiency dwelling unit is “a dwelling unit consisting of not more than one habitable room together with a kitchen or kitchenette and sanitary facilities.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(65) (JA 232).

<sup>9</sup> The Code defines bedroom and living room. “A living room is typically . . . the largest furnished room by floor area in a residential living unit. . . .” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(113) (JA 234). “A bedroom is any room or area within a dwelling unit that: is not a kitchen, bathroom, hallway or foyer; is at least 70 square feet . . . and does not provide the sole means of access or passage into any other room in the living unit except a bathroom or closet.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(20) (JA 230). If “there is no remaining room or area in the living unit that can reasonably be used as a living room, then one bedroom may be considered a living room if it otherwise meets the definition of living room.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(20) (JA 230).

presented that argument to the district court based on the second floor remodeling plan's reference to adding a door. (JA 196-197).

There is no legitimate factual dispute on this issue. Before and after remodel, the second floor had two kitchens, two baths, and two separate entrances, each with its own external door, all reflecting two units. (JA 182-183). Applicant, the Ames Zoning Enforcement Officer, and Ames ZBA consistently agreed on that point. (JA 115-116, 118, 121-123, 125, 131, 140-141, 147-148, 178-183). Even members of the public who presented comments at the Ames ZBA hearing acknowledged that 2304 Knapp is a four-unit apartment building. (JA 161-162).

Presented with no new evidence on this point, the district court nevertheless adopted the finding presented in Ames ZBA's Trial Brief that the second floor plan would "split one unit into two units," resulting in a "newly created Unit 4." (JA 196-197, 212). As discussed later, this finding by the district court is invalid. The district court cannot make new factual findings on issues that Ames ZBA decided.

*See Bontrager Auto Serv., Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483, 495 (Iowa 2008).

**G. An Ames Zoning Enforcement Officer denies the permit, reasoning that the proposed interior remodeling would result in an increase in “intensity.”**

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