IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 17-1149

AMES 2304, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF AMES, ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,

Defendant/Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT HON. JUDGE MICHAEL J. MOON STORY COUNTY CASE NUMBER CVCV049820

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

Brent L. Hinders AT0003519 Hugh J. Cain AT0001379 HOPKINS & HUEBNER, P.C. 2700 Grand Avenue, Suite 111 Des Moines, IA 50312 Telephone: (515) 244-0111

Fax: (515) 244-8935

Email: <u>bhinders@hhlawpc.com</u>

hcain@hhlawpc.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE AMES ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT ACTED LEGALLY

A. Preservation of error and standard of review.

The Petitioner partially preserved error in this matter by filing a Notice of Appeal within 30 days of the District Court's ruling dated July 14, 2017. (Notice of Appeal, App. 219). Specifically, the Petitioner preserved error on its argument that Zoning Board of Adjustment improperly interpreted Ames Municipal Code Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) as permissive as opposed to mandatory.

However, in this appeal, the Petitioner raises arguments not submitted to the District Court. In particular the Petitioner claims that the ZBA misinterpreted the ordinance because, in the Petitioner's view, the word "intensity" cannot apply to a

residential use. This argument was not raised in any of the briefing before the District Court. (Brief in Support of Petition for Writ of Certiorari p. 3, App. 19). The Petitioner made two arguments before the District Court. First, the Petitioner argued that Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) is mandatory. (Brief in Support of Petition for Writ of Certiorari p. 3, App. 19). Second, the Petitioner argued that the facts did not support a conclusion that the proposal would not "increase in intensity" the nonconforming use. (Brief in Support of Petition for Writ of Certiorari p. 3, App. 19). The District Court did not address an argument that the word "intensity" cannot apply to a residential use under the Ames Municipal Code. (District Court Ruling dated June 16, 2017, App. 206). The Petitioner did not file a motion to reconsider to raise this issue before filing a notice of appeal.

In the context of a writ of certiorari a court reviews factual questions on a substantial evidence basis and legal questions de novo. *Bontrager Auto Service*, *Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483, 494-495 (Iowa 2008). In a de novo standard of review, the appellate court is not by bound by the trial court's conclusions of law or findings of fact, although the appellate court should give weight to factual findings, particularly when they involve the credibility of witnesses. *In re Estate of Roethler*, 801 N.W.2d 833, 837 (Iowa 2011).

B. Argument.

The Petitioner now makes three arguments concerning the Ames ZBA's

interpretation of the Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii). First, the Petitioner argues, for the first time on appeal, that the word "intensity" is defined in such a way that it cannot apply to residential uses. (Appellant Brief pp. 41-52). Second, the Petitioner claims that the Ames ZBA erred because the Petitioner's proposed use would not constitute an expansion or extension under Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii). (Appellant Brief p. 52-54). Finally, the Petitioner alleges that the terms of Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii) are mandatory and require the Ames ZBA to grant its permit. (Appellant Brief p. 55). The Court should reject each of these arguments and affirm the District Court.

1. The Ames ZBA reached a legally correct interpretation of Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii)

The Ames ZBA correctly interpreted Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii) in its decision. The Ames ZBA determined that Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii) must be read in conjunction with Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i). (Ames 19, App. 133). The text of the Ames Municipal Code reads as follows:

- (2) Nonconforming Uses. Any use of any structure or lot that was conforming or validly nonconforming and otherwise lawful at the enactment date of this ordinance and is nonconforming under the provisions of this Ordinance or that shall be made nonconforming by a subsequent amendment, may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the standards and limitations of this Section.
- (a) Movement, Alteration and Enlargement.

- (i) Enlargement.
- a. A nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity and may not be enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy parts of another structure or portions of a lot that it did not occupy on the effective date of this Ordinance, unless the enlargement, expansion or extension complies with all requirements for the zone, does not create an additional nonconformity, and is approved for a Special Use Permit by the Zoning Board of Adjustment, pursuant to the procedures of Section 29.1503, excluding 29.1503(4)(b)(vii) of the Review Criteria General Standards, except as described in subsection b. following.
- b. Any building or structure containing a nonconforming use may be enlarged up to 125% of the floor area existing on the effective date of this ordinance, provided that the expanded building or structure complies with all density, coverage and spatial requirements of the zone in which it is located.
- c. The enlargement of a nonconforming use that has the effect of making a structure nonconforming, other than as described in subsection b. above, shall not be specially permitted pursuant to Section 29.1503, but rather shall be construed as a request for a variance, subject to the procedures of Section 29.1504.
- (ii) Exterior or Interior Remodeling or Improvements to Structure. Exterior or interior remodeling or improvements to a structure containing a nonconforming use shall be permitted, provided that any proposed enlargement, expansion or extension shall be subject to the provisions set forth in the above paragraph.

Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a) (emphasis supplied)

The parties disagree about the interpretation of this ordinance.

The Ames Municipal Code is ambiguous when it comes to whether the increase in intensity of use provisions of paragraph (i) apply to remodeling under paragraph (ii). A statute is ambiguous if reasonable minds could differ or be uncertain as to the meaning of the statute. Iowa Ins. Institute v. Core Group of Iowa Ass'n for Justice, 867 N.W.2d 58, 72 (Iowa 2015). An ambiguity may arise from the specific language used in a statute. Id. An ambiguity might also arise "when the provision at issue is considered in the context of the entire statute or related statutes." Id. A statute may be ambiguous "even if the meaning of words might seem clear on their fact, their context can create ambiguity." Id. statutory interpretation question that the Ames ZBA faced was whether "enlargement, expansion or extension" in 29.307(2)(a)(ii) meant: (1) enlargement, expansion or extension of the structure; or (2) enlargement, expansion or extension of either the nonconforming use or structure.

In other sections the ordinance uses the word enlargement to refer both to the structure and the nonconforming use. In Section 29.307(2)(A)(i)(a) entitled "enlargement" the language reads "[a] nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity and may not be enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy other parts of another structure or portions of a lot that it did not occupy..." Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i)(a). At the same time in Section 29.307(2)(a)(i)(c) the ordinance refers to "enlargement of a nonconforming use" when it states "[t]he

enlargement of a nonconforming use that has the effect of making a structure nonconforming..." Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i)(c). The different usages of the word "enlargement" in the ordinance make the use of the word "enlargement" ambiguous in paragraph (ii).

There are now three competing interpretations of the section. The first interpretation is that paragraph (ii) requires all remodeling to be subject to the requirements of paragraph (i)'s prohibition against increasing the intensity of the nonconformance. The Ames ZBA found this interpretation was appropriate. Petitioner originally contended that paragraph (ii)'s first clause is mandatory and "does not grant the City any discretion to prohibit the remodeling," unless there is actually an enlargement, expansion or extension of the physical structure. However, on appeal the Petitioner, has now presented an argument that the word "intensity" cannot apply to a residential property by virtue of the definitions in Section 29.201.

The Ames ZBA determined that the language in (ii) means that a remodeling must comply with both paragraph (i) and (ii). The Ames ZBA held, "[t]he Board determines that the reference in Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) to the preceding paragraph, 29.307(2)(a)(i), was intended to incorporate subsection (i)'s prohibition on increases in intensity in structures that are non-conforming use regarding remodeling the structure." (Ames 19, App. 133). The Board then continued,

"[t]herefore, the ordinance does not allow increases in intensity for non-conforming structures undergoing internal remodeling." (Ames 19, App. 133). The Board found that "[t]his is in line with the general purpose of the 'Nonconformities' section of the ordinance, expressed in Section 29.307(1)." (Ames 19, App. 133).

The Ames ZBA correctly interpreted the ambiguity in light of Section 29.307(1)(a). A statute or ordinance must be assessed in its entirety and not just through isolated words or phrases. State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169, 177 (Iowa 2013). In Section 29.307(1)(a) the ordinances state, "[i]t is the general policy of the City to allow uses, structures and lots that came into existence legally, in conformance with then-applicable requirements, to continue to exist and be put to productive use, but to mitigate adverse impact on conforming uses in the vicinity." Ames Municipal Code Section 29.307(1)(a). The same section continues: "[t]he regulations of this Section are intended to: (i) recognize the interests of property owners in continuing to use their property; (ii) promote reuse and rehabilitation of existing buildings; and (iii) place reasonable limits on the expansion of nonconformities that have the potential to adversely affect surrounding properties and the community as a whole." Ames Municipal Code Section 29.307(1)(a)(i)-(iii).

The Ames ZBA determined that the language in (ii) means that a remodeling

must comply with both paragraph (i) and (ii). The Ames ZBA held, "[t]he Board determines that the reference in Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) to the preceding paragraph, 29.307(2)(a)(i), was intended to incorporate subsection (i)'s prohibition on increases in intensity in structures that are non-conforming use regarding remodeling the structure." (Ames 19, App. 133). The Board then continued, "[t]herefore, the ordinance does not allow increases in intensity for non-conforming structures undergoing internal remodeling." (Ames 19, App. 133). The Board found that "[t]his is in line with the general purpose of the 'Nonconformities' section of the ordinance, expressed in Section 29.307(1)." (Ames 19, App. 133). The language of Section 29.307(1)(a) provides the context and general intent for the provisions of Section 29.307(2)(a)(i)&(ii).

It would be incongruent to claim that paragraph (ii) "does not grant the City any discretion to prohibit the remodeling" in light of the overarching responsibilities set out in (1)(a). If the Ames ZBA or the Court were to adopt the Petitioner's position, then remodeling could increase the intensity of the nonconformance without any oversight by the Ames ZBA. The Petitioner's initial position is that it could remodel the existing structure to add 50 occupants and the Ames ZBA could not prevent such a remodeling as long as the building's exterior dimensions did not change. A court should avoid interpreting a statute in a manner that produces absurd results. *The Sherwin-Willams Co. v. Iowa Dept. of Revenue*,

789 N.W.2d 417, 427 (Iowa 2010).

The same is true if the proposed interpretation would be clearly inconsistent with the purpose and policies of the act in question. *Id.* (citations omitted). This increase in the nonconformance would certainly "have the potential to adversely affect surrounding properties and the community as a whole." Ames Municipal Code Section 29.307(1)(a)(iii). It would also constitute an "expansion of nonconformities." Ames Municipal Code Section 29.307(1)(a)(iii). The Petitioner's interpretation would prevent the Ames ZBA from exercising any judgment or discretion concerning these adverse effects. This puts the Petitioner's interpretation squarely in conflict with the purposes of this ordinance.

The use of the word "any" in paragraph (ii) is an indicator that enlargement, expansion or extension was meant to be read broadly. Paragraph (ii) states "any proposed enlargement..." Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(ii). The terms of paragraph (i) deal with and set forth the rules for "enlargement" because it is the title of the paragraph. The first sentence of paragraph (i) dealing with "enlargement" prohibits two things: (1) increased intensity of the nonconforming use; and (2) enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy parts of another structure or portions of a lot that did not occupy on the effective date of this Ordinance. This strongly supports a conclusion that an "enlargement" under paragraph (i) includes both an increase in intensity of the nonconforming use and the expansion of the

structure. Thus, it stands to reason that "any enlargement" would include: (1) an increase in intensity of the nonconformity; and (2) an expansion of the structure.

2. The word "intensity" in Section 29.307(2)(a) can apply to residential nonconforming uses.

The dispute, which is being raised for the first time on appeal, is whether the word "intensity" in Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i)(a) applies to a residential nonconformance. The Petitioner claims that the Municipal Code defines "intensity" to apply to land "used for commercial, industrial, or any other *nonresidential* purpose." (Appellant's Brief p. 47). (quoting Ames Municipal Code Section 29.201(109) and adding emphasis). The Court should reject this argument.

The Petitioner fails to adequately address the qualifying statement in Section 29.201 that these definitions apply "[e]xcept as otherwise defined in this Ordinance or unless the context may otherwise require." Ames Municipal Code Section 29.201. In the context of "nonconforming uses" it is more than appropriate to apply intensity to commercial, industrial and residential nonconforming uses. Any other interpretation is a tortured attempt to twist the plain meaning of the word in order to reach the Petitioner's desired result.

The use of the word "intensity" to modify the word "nonconforming use" is a rather straightforward matter of interpretation. First, this Court must consider whether a nonconforming use can rightly be limited to nonresidential uses in light of the overarching purposes described above. No reasonable person could reach the conclusion that "intensity" only applies to those nonconforming uses that are commercial or industrial in nature. In order to do so it would be necessary to conclude that a residential nonconforming use was subject to virtually no regulation.

The Petitioner's newly crafted argument falls prey to the same issues as the previous arguments to the District Court. In this case, the Petitioner's newly offered interpretation of the statute means that this particular property could have an unlimited number of bedrooms and residents. A Court should avoid statutory interpretations that create absurd results. Brakke v. Iowa Dep't of Natural Res., 897 N.W.2d 522, 534 (Iowa 2017). (stating "[i]t is universally accepted that where statutory terms are ambiguous, courts should interpret the statute in a reasonable fashion to avoid absurd results."). If a house had an existing residential nonconforming use allowing more than the permissible number of residents, then under the Petitioner's newly offered interpretation the owner could have as many residents as the owner desired. After all, the word "intensity" is the word in Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i)(a) that potentially modifies the amount of the nonconforming use. The Petitioner's contention leads to an interpretation of the statute where there could be fifty people residing in this house as long as the exterior dimensions remain unchanged and the Ames ZBA would be powerless to prevent that from happening.

The correct interpretation of the language prohibiting an increase in intensity of a nonconforming use is to apply the prohibition to residential and nonresidential nonconforming uses. There is no reason to believe the residential nonconforming uses are any less damaging to surrounding property owners than nonresidential nonconforming uses. It flies in the face of reason to suggest that the City's purpose in limiting the "intensity" of nonconforming uses would consider only commercial or industrial nonconforming uses harmful to the community. The Ames ZBA correctly considered evidence of the harmful effects of an increase in the intensity of this nonconforming use and denied the Special Use Permit.

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